# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

# RECEIVED 09-19-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

# Appeal No. 2016AP1294-CR

# Waukesha County Circuit Court Case No. 14-CF-815

## STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAVID H. NINNEMANN,

Defendant-Appellant.

An Appeal From a Judgment of Conviction and from Postconviction Orders entered by Branch 9 of the Waukesha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael J. Aprahamian, Presiding

## **Brief of the Defendant-Appellant**

Basil M. Loeb Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1037772

949 Glenview Avenue Wauwatosa, WI 53213 (414) 259-9300 (Telephone) (414) 259-9303 (Facsimile) loeb@lawintosa.com

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its sentencing discretion when it sentenced Ninnemann to thirty six months jail after his probation was revoked?

Circuit Court answered: No.

2. Was the circuit court's discretionary decision to require Ninnemann to register as a sex offender an erroneous exercise of discretion?

Circuit Court answered: No.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

David H. Ninnemann was originally charged with eighty (80) counts: forty (40) counts of exposing genitals to a child under Wisconsin State Statute § 948.10(1)(a) and forty (40) counts of lewd, lascivious behavior under Wis. Stat. § 944.20(1)(b). (1). Ninnemann, through counsel, entered a plea of no contest and was convicted of five (5) counts of Lewd, Lascivious Behavior under Wis. Stat. § 944.20(1)(b). (29). The remainder of the charges were dismissed and readin. (29).

The Court withheld imposition of sentence and placed Ninnemann on three years' probation. (20). As part of the sentence, the Court ordered Ninnemann to register as a sex offender pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 973.048. (34:18). In requiring Ninnemann to register, the Court determined that Ninnemann's actions were "sexually motivated" (34:18). In expanding upon this determination, the Court referenced that the acts "happened over 40 times" (34:18). The Court also found that reporting would be in the best interest of the public for purposes of deterrence and so that the public is made aware of the "kind of person" Ninnemann is. (34:18).

Ninnemann began probation the day he was sentenced. (42). He has no issues on probation from June 17, 2015 until February 1, 2016 when he was placed in custody. (42). He was placed in custody for failing to comply with sex offender treatment. (42). That was his only violation while on probation. Ninnemann waived his right to a revocation hearing. (42).

Ninnemann's agent recommended a maximum sentence of 45 months. (48:4). The State concurred with that recommendation despite an acknowledgment that a 45 month county jail sentence was an extraordinary and unusually long sentence. (48:4). The State asserted that the original compromise in the case contemplated three years of supervision as protection for the victim. (48:4). The State's argument for such an extraordinary length of time was to give security to the victim. (48:5).

Ninnemann argued for time served, citing the condition time he already sat, the 28 days straight time he sat and the fact that the only violation on probation was for failing to comply with sex offender counseling. (48).

The court reiterated its concern about the number of times the indecent conduct occurred. (48:15). The court outlined that it placed Ninnemann on probation because it felt that Ninnemann was targeting the victim for sexual gratification. (48:15). The court said the original sentence was fair and that Ninnemann "just didn't comply". (48:16). The court ordered 8 months straight time on Count 41 and 7 months county jail with Huber for the other four counts. (48:19).

Ninnemann challenged both the sex offender registry requirement and the sentence after revocation through postconviction motions in circuit court. (39 & 49). The circuit court denied both motions. (54). Ninnemann appeals the sentence after revocation and the orders denying his postconviction motions.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.	THE	DECIS	SION	ТО	RE	QUIRE
NIN	NEMAN	ΝΤΟ	REGIS	STER	AS	A SEX
OF	FENDER	C	ONST	ITUTI	ED	AN
ER	RONEOU	S	EXE	RCIS	E	OF
SEI	NTENCIN	G DIS	CRETI	ON.		

Ordering a person to register with the sexual offender registry under Wis. Stat. § 973.048 for a Lewd and Lascivious conviction is subject to the Court's discretion. Statutory language and case law allow for the Court to impose the registration requirement provided that the underlying conduct for which the offender was convicted was "sexually motivated" and that registration be in the public's best interest. Sexually motivated is defined by statute and further considered by case law. The court stated an act is sexually motivated if, "one of the purposes for an act is for the act of sexual arousal or gratification or for the sexual humiliation or degradation of the victim." (34:18). The Court of Appeals reviews a trial court's discretionary decision under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. State v. Kivioja, 225 Wis. 2d 271, 284, 592 N.W.2d 220 (1999). Thus, the Court of Appeals will uphold a discretionary decision if the circuit court reached a reasonable conclusion based on the proper legal standard and a logical interpretation of the facts. Id. In reviewing a discretionary decision, the Court of Appeals will look for reasons to sustain the trial court. Loomans v. Milwaukee Mut. Ins. Co., 38 Wis. 2d 656, 662, 158 N.W.2d 318 (1968).

The Court offered two explanations for why Ninnemann's conduct was determined to be sexually motivated. The court expressly cited the 40 occurrences and that the alleged victim is a minor in finding the acts to be sexually motivated. (34:16). Ninnemann rejects this concept. There is no evidence that these acts, if they did in fact occur, were sexually motivated. Ninnemann and the alleged victim were long-term neighbors, making sporadic contact natural. Further, the quantity of the read-in counts is irrelevant as to whether Ninnemann should be subject to register in this matter as read-in offenses may not be considered in determining whether a defendant should register pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 973.048. *See State v. Martel*, 2003 WI 70, 262 Wis. 2d 483, 664 N.W.2d 69. Notwithstanding the irrelevance of the read-in counts in determining whether Ninnemann be required to register, the Court made multiple references to the volume of the events. The Court considered on the record, "...the fact for it to happen so many times..." (34:16) and that the alleged victim "...had to endure this for five months..." (34:16), considering the read-in counts in its determination. The Court erred in considering these counts when determining whether Ninnemann should register as a sex offender.

The discretionary determination should also take into account the public interest. The Court cites its concern for the protection of the community (34:17) though Ninnemann had displayed no conduct from the time of the charges that would indicate a likelihood to reoffend. He has remained compliant with all requirements and recommendations of the Court. Ninnemann has not exhibited any propensity to engage in conduct similar to that of the charges. There is no evidence to show Ninnemann was or is a danger to the community, nor would requiring him to register as a sex offender be in the best interests of the community. Ninnemann has no prior criminal record nor is there any indication he has engaged in similar conduct. Further, a sex offender evaluation performed by Joseph Henger resulted in a "very low risk for sexual recidivism" with a Static-99R score of -2.

The considerations made by the Court at the sentencing hearing in regards to the sexual offender registration under Wis. Stat. § 978.048 were erroneous. There was no evidence to show the behavior was sexually motivated, that there would be any benefit to the community, nor should the read-in counts have been considered. The requirement that Ninnemann register as a sexual offender is under the discretion of the court, but was ordered in error in this instance.

Because of these errors, this court should reverse the circuit court's decision to require Ninnemann to register as a sexual offender and should not require sex offender registration in this case.

# II.THE COURT'S SENTENCE AFTERREVOCATIONCONSTITUTEDANERRONEOUSEXERCISEOFSENTENCING DISCRETION.

A criminal sentence should represent the minimum amount of custody consistent with the factors of the gravity of the offense, the character of the offender and the need to protect the public. State v. Setagord, 211 Wis. 2d 397, 416, 556 N.W.2d 506, 514 (1997); State v. Borrell, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 764, 482 N.W.2d 883, 888 (1992). Probation should be considered as the first alternative. Bastian v. State, 54 Wis. 2d 240, 248-49 n.1, 194 N.W.2d 687 (1972). The record must show that the sentencing Court engaged in a logical process of reasoning based on the facts of record and proper legal standards. McCleary v. State, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 277, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). The Wisconsin Supreme Court reaffirmed the sentencing standards established in *McCleary*. State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. Ninnemann has a due process right to be sentenced based on accurate information. State v. Anderson, 222 Wis. 2d 403, 408, 588 N.W.2d 75, 77 (Ct. App. 1998).

It is well recognized that it is in the inherent power of the trial court to "amend, modify and correct a judgment of sentencing." *Hayes v. State*, 46 Wis. 2d 93, 102, 175 N.W.2d 625, 629 (1970). Sentence determination issues should, therefore, be raised with the trial court. *State v. Meyer*, 150 Wis. 2d 603, 606, 442 N.W.2d 483, 485 (Ct. App. 1989). The trial court may review its original sentence for abuse of discretion and determine that the original sentence was unduly harsh or unconscionable. *Cresci v. State*, 89 Wis. 2d 495, 504, 278 N.W.2d 850, 854 (1979).

An abuse of discretion, for example, occurs if the sentencing court fails to state, on the record, the factors influencing its decision. *State v. Larsen*, 141 Wis. 2d 412, 428, 415 N.W.2d 535, 542 (Ct. App. 1987).

The Court of Appeals will review a sentencing after probation revocation "on a global basis treating the latter sentencing as a continuum of the" original sentencing hearing. *See State v. Wegner*, 2000 WI App 231, ¶7, 239 Wis. 2d 96, 101, 619 N.W.2d 289, 291. Thus, at sentencing after probation revocation, a circuit court should consider many of the same objectives and factors that it is expected to consider at the original sentencing hearing. *See Id.*; *see also State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 131, ¶¶20–21, 298 Wis. 2d 37, 49–50, 725 N.W.2d 262, 268.

Ninnemann contends that the sentences after revocation ordered by the circuit court do not reflect the proper exercise of sentencing discretion.

Most importantly, there was limited to no mention of the mitigating factors present in the case. The court had next to nothing positive to say about Ninnemann which is wrong. This shows that the court's sentence did not reflect the required exercise of sentencing discretion. These are the mitigating factors that the court did not address at the sentencing after revocation hearing:

(1)The fact that Ninnemann maintained stable employment while on probation.

(2)The fact that Ninnemann did not commit any law violations while on probation.

(3)The fact that Ninnemann did not miss appointments with his agent while on probation.

(4)The fact that the non-compliance with sex offender treatment was the sole violation while on probation.

(5)The fact that Ninnemann had no WCS violations while on pre-trial supervision.

(6)The fact that there had not been one incident of lewd and lascivious behavior since 2013.

This list of factors prove that the court was incorrect when it concluded that Ninnemann "just didn't comply" with probation. That was not accurate information. Ninnemann substantially complied with probation. He did show he could comply with the law. He has complied with the law ever since he was charged with these crimes.

Furthermore, the State grossly overstated the need for an extraordinary length of jail time as a way to protect the victim. She did not need protection. There have been no alleged incidents since 2013. The court even allowed Ninnemann to move back into his residence in September 2015, against the victim's wishes, and Ninnemann repaid the court's loyalty by not committing any violations or causing issues for the victim or the victim's family. Also, nothing would stop the victim or the victim's family from seeking a restraining order against Ninnemann and receiving the protections that a restraining order provides. And Ninnemann is subject to sex offender registry which is an additional protection for the victim and the general public that will last long after Ninnemann completes his sentences.

The court was concerned at the original sentencing hearing and concerned at the sentencing after revocation hearing about Ninnemann's denials. Counsel understands those concerns in light of Ninnemann's comments to the court at the sentencing hearing and sentencing after revocation hearing. The denials sound like sour grapes and that Ninnemann has "buyer's remorse" for entering into the plea agreement in 2015. That is likely the case. But that does not, in reviewing the entire record here, prove that he is a higher risk to the community and that he deserves three years of county jail time for one probation violation. The record, since the charges were filed against him, prove that Ninnemann is not a risk to the public. His denials, therefore, are not as aggravating as portrayed by the court. The court, at the original sentencing hearing, concluded that its belief was that Ninnemann was targeting the victim for sexual gratification. Even if that is correct, that is not happening anymore. And since that is the case, the fact that Ninnemann was charged, convicted, served condition jail time and was on probation has obviously sent a message and deterred him from committing this conduct.

The court basically transferred the three years of probation it originally ordered to three years of county jail time. Based on the record and established laws related to sentencing and sentencing after revocation, the jail sentences, as fashioned, constituted an erroneous exercise of judicial discretion. As such, they must be modified.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the above-mentioned reasons, Ninnemann respectfully requests the following:

Reversal of the circuit court's order requiring Ninnemann to register as a sex offender; and

Reversal of the circuit court's sentences after revocation and a directive to the circuit court to modify the sentences to a time served disposition.