RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-24-2016 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2016AP1294-CR Waukesha County Circuit Court Case No. 14-CF-815

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. DAVID H. NINNEMANN,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From the Judgment of Conviction and the Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief Entered by Branch 9 of the Waukesha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael J. Aprahamian, Presiding

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Kevin M. Osborne
Assistant District Attorney
State Bar No. 1012489
Waukesha County District Attorney's Office
Waukesha County Courthouse
515 West Moreland Boulevard

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Was the circuit court's discretionary decision to require David H. Ninnemann to register as a sex offender an erroneous exercise of discretion?

Circuit Court answered: No.

2. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its sentencing discretion when it sentence David H. Ninnemann to thirty-six months jail after his probation was revoked?

Circuit Court answered: No.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As the plaintiff-respondent, the State exercises its option not to present a full statement of the case. Wis. Stat. § 809.19(3)(a)(2) (2015-16).

ARGUMENT

An appellate court reviews the discretionary sentencing decision of a trial court using the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *State v. Kivioja*, 225 Wis. 2d 271, 284, 592 N.W.2d 220 (1999). A court properly exercised its discretion if its sentencing record reveals a rational and explainable basis for a sentencing decision. *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 22, 38, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. If a court does not effectively explain its rationale in imposing a sentence, a reviewing court is "obliged to search the record to determine whether in the exercise of proper discretion the sentence imposed can be sustained." *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 282, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971).

Sentencing decisions are discretionary; we review only whether the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion. *State v. Spears*, 227 Wis. 2d 495, 506, 596 N.W.2d 375 (1999). A discretionary decision will be affirmed if it is made based upon the facts of record and in reliance on the appropriate law. *Id.* There is a strong public policy against interfering with the trial

court's sentencing discretion, and we presume the trial court acted reasonably. *State v. Harris*, 119 Wis. 2d 612, 622, 350 N.W.2d 633 (1984).

State v. Owens, 2006 WI App 75, ¶7, 291 Wis. 2d 229, 713 N.W.2d 187.

It is against strong public policy to interfere with a court's sentence. Interference with a court's sentence should only occur when the Court did not make its decision based upon the facts of record and in reliance of the appropriate law. Ninnemann must overcome the strong presumption that the trial court appropriately exercised its sentencing discretion by showing that the record does not support the sentencing decision, or that the record shows that the trial court relied upon an unreasonable or unjustifiable basis for that decision. State v. Bizzle, 222 Wis. 2d 100, 104-06, 585 N.W.2d 899 (Ct. App. 1998). Ninnemann has not shown that the trial court relied on an unreasonable or unjustifiable basis to make its sentencing decision. Therefore, this Court must presume the trial court acted reasonably and appropriately exercised its sentencing discretion, and the judgment of conviction and order denying postconviction relief should be affirmed.

I. THE COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS SENTENCING DISCRETION WHEN IT REQUIRED NINNEMANN TO REGISTER AS A SEX OFFENDER.

As the Court stated in its sentencing record, under Wis. Stat. § 973.048, it is within the Court's discretion to order a person to register with the sexual offender registry for a conviction of Lewd and Lascivious Conduct. (R. 34:18; App. 18). To determine whether registration is appropriate, a court must determine that the conduct was "sexually motivated," and find that requiring the defendant to register is in the best interest of the public. (R. 34:17; App. 17). According to the trial court, an act is considered "sexually motivated" if, "one of the purposes of the act is for the sexual arousal or gratification or for the sexual humiliation or degradation of the victim." (R. 34:18; App. 18).

The Court stated it was an "easy" decision to find that the conduct in this case was "sexually motivated." (R. 34:18; App. 18). Ninnemann argues that there is no evidence his conduct was sexually motivated. In finding Ninnemann's conduct as "sexually motivated," the Court reiterated the premise of the purposefulness of this act versus an accidental act, which was stated before in the Court's evaluation of Ninnemann's character. (R. 34:18; App. 18). The court opined that if this case involved only a one-time accident, where the defendant was letting his dogs out of his home and he

happened to be exposed in his backyard, it would be difficult for the court to make the determination that the conduct was sexually motivated. (R. 34:16; App. 16). However, the court stated that because the defendant exposed himself on 40 different occasions, targeting the same victim, finding the conduct as sexually motivated was an easy determination. (R. 34:16; App. 16).

This determination refers back to the Court's discussion of Ninnemann's character, which was discussed immediately before the court determined Ninnemann's conduct was "sexually motivated." (R. 34:17; App. 17). In the evaluation of Ninnemann's character, the court stated, "the fact that [the victim] was a minor . . . goes directly to [Ninnemann's] sexual conduct motivation." (R. 34:17; App. 17). The court then described Ninnemann's conduct as an exposure of himself to the victim, in a targeted manner, "over and over again to humiliate her to the point where she couldn't even go to somebody and tell them about it until she realized that this could happen to . . . other people." (R. 34:17; App. 17).

Therefore, Ninnemann's argument that the (1) amount of occurrences and (2) the fact that the victim was a minor were the Court's only two explanations for why Ninnemann's conduct was sexually motivated is incorrect. The Court's description of Ninnemann's conduct here, described more than once by the Court,

was taken into account in its determination of whether the conduct was sexually motivated. This description included the targeting of the same victim and the humiliation of the victim, to the extent that she did not approach anyone else about the situation until she was worried it could happen to others.

Even if the Court did not effectively connect its determination that Ninnemann's conduct was sexually motivated to its previous description of Ninnemann's conduct, a reviewing court "must search the sentencing record to determine whether, in the exercise of proper discretion, the decision to require Ninnemann to register can be sustained." *McCleary*, 49 Wis. 2d at 282, 182 N.W.2d at 512. To determine whether conduct is "sexually motivated," a court must evaluate whether one of the purposes of Ninnemann's conduct is for the sexual arousal or gratification or for the sexual humiliation or degradation of the victim. (R. 34:18; App. 18).

The Court believed humiliation of the victim was one of the purposes of Ninnemann's conduct. The Court corroborated this view by explaining that when Ninnemann was finally "caught" and spoke to police, "now that [the victim] finally stepped up and had the courage to say something, maybe [it] took [Ninnemann] by surprise, because that's maybe the position, exactly the position, [Ninnemann was] putting her in, to feel powerless." (R. 34:17; App.

17). The defendant stated, "whatever happened, it won't happen again," which the Court viewed as an admission the defendant knew the conduct was "bad." (R. 34:17; App. 17). These statements on the sentencing record, taken together, constitute a rational and explainable basis for the Court to determine that one of the purposes of Ninnemann's conduct was to humiliate the victim, and the conduct was thus "sexually motivated."

Ninnemann also contends that the quantity of read-in counts is irrelevant as to whether Ninnemann should be subject to register. Ninnemann relies on the holding in *State v. Martel* to argue that read-in offenses may not be considered in determining whether a defendant should register. *See State v. Martel*, 2003 WI 70, 262 Wis. 2d 483, 664 N.W.2d 69.

First, the quantity of the charges is relevant to whether

Ninnemann should be subject to register as a sexual offender. The

conduct here, as explained by the Court, did not involve a one-time

accident; rather, this situation involved very frequently repeated

conduct, targeting one particular victim. The Court viewed the fact

that this conduct occurred "over and over again" as adding to the

humiliation endured by the victim. If a purpose of particular

conduct is the humiliation of a victim, the conduct can be considered

"sexually motivated." Thus, along with other circumstances noted

by the Court, the repeated nature of this conduct, occurring "over 40 times," was appropriately considered in the court's determination that the conduct was sexually motivated.

Second, Ninnemann's reliance on *Martel* in this situation is misleading and misplaced, as the factual circumstances of this case are significantly dissimilar to those in *Martel*. In *Martel*, the defendant pled to a count of bail jumping, and six counts of sexual assault of a child were dismissed and read in pursuant to the plea agreement. *Id.* at ¶¶5, 6. Because bail jumping is not an offense enumerated in Wis. Stat. § 973.048, and a defendant is not sentenced on read-in charges, the Court lacked the authority to order sex-offender registration as a condition of probation. *See Id*.

Here, Ninnemann pled guilty to Lewd and Lascivious

Behavior, which is one of the offenses enumerated in Wis. Stat. §

973.048. Thus, unlike the Court in *Martel*, the Court has the discretion to order sex-offender registration. Additionally, to say that read-in offenses may not be considered in determining a condition of Ninnemann's probation would defeat the very purpose and definition of read-in charges. Read-in charges are "charges that are expected to be considered in sentencing," in exchange for the promise that the State will not prosecute those offenses. *State v. Sulla*, 369 Wis. 2d 225, 251-52, 880 N.W.2d 659, 671-72 (2016).

The Court here considered the read-in charges when making its sentencing decision. In making a probationary sentence decision, a Court must evaluate whether certain conditions of probation are appropriate and order conditions of probation accordingly. Here, the Court evaluated whether Ninnemann's registration as a sexual offender was an appropriate condition of his probation, and properly considered the read-in charges in this evaluation. Ultimately, the Court found registration appropriate, and ordered registration as a condition of probation.

Lastly, the Court correctly determined it was in the best interest of the public to have Ninnemann register as a sexual offender. The Court stated that it was "concerned" for the protection of the community. (R. 34:17; App. 17). Requiring Ninnemann register would offer protection to the public, would "make sure this doesn't happen again," and Ninnemann's community would then know what kind of person he is. (R. 34:18; App. 18). Ninnemann does not have a prior record; however, the Court viewed Ninnemann's conduct in this particular case as serious. (R. 34:17; App. 17). The victim only reported Ninnemann's conduct after she realized that Ninnemann could expose himself to her sister or other people. (R. 34:17; App. 17). This is a clear example that the public is concerned about Ninnemann's conduct happening again, and the

public would like to be protected from this particular conduct.

Therefore, using its sentencing discretion, the Court correctly determined that it is in the best interest of the public to have Ninnemann register with the sexual offender registry.

Reviewing the facts of record and the applicable law, the Court had a rational and explainable basis for determining that Ninnemann's conduct was "sexually motivated," and that it was in the best interest of the public to require Ninnemann to register as a sexual offender. Thus, the Court properly exercised its sentencing discretion when it ordered Ninnemann to register under Wis. Stat. § 973.048. Ninnemann did not overcome the presumption that the circuit court appropriately exercised its sentencing discretion in requiring Ninnemann to register with the sexual offender registry and this Court should affirm the circuit court's decision.

II. THE COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS SENTENCING DISCRETION WHEN IT IMPOSED ITS SENTENCE AFTER REVOCATION.

The court properly exercised its discretion in sentencing
Ninnemann, as the sentencing record properly illustrates a rational
and explainable basis for the sentence. Ninnemann has not shown
that the record reveals an unreasonable or unjustifiable basis in
sentencing Ninnemann, or that the sentence is so excessive that it

shocks the public conscience. Therefore, Ninnemann has not overcome the presumption that the Court properly exercised its sentencing discretion, and the sentencing decision of the Court must be upheld.

Ninnemann correctly illustrates the applicable law. A criminal sentence should represent the minimum amount of custody consistent with the factors of the gravity of the offense, the character of the offender, and the need to protect the public. *State v. Setagord*, 211 Wis. 2d 397, 416, 556 N.W.2d 506, 514 (1997). Probation *was* considered as the first alternative in this case. Ninnemann failed to comply with a condition of his probation explicitly set out by the Court, which was to comply with all treatment requirements recommended by his probation officer (including sexual offender treatment). Thus, Ninnemann's probation was revoked, and probation was no longer a consideration by the Court, as Ninnemann demonstrated that he would not comply with his conditional treatment requirements.

A reviewing court must view the sentencing after revocation as a continuum of the first sentencing hearing, and consider the proceedings on a global basis. *State v. Wegner*, 2000 WI App 231, ¶7, 239 Wis. 2d 96, 101, 619 N.W.2d 289, 291. When the same judge presides over the original sentencing proceeding and the

sentencing after revocation, "the judge does not have to restate the reasons supporting the original sentencing; the court will consider the original sentencing reasons to be implicitly adopted." *Id.* at ¶9. The judge may rely on the entire record in making its sentencing decision. *Id.*

In a sentencing proceeding, if a court does not clearly delineate the factors of gravity of the offense, the character of the offender, and the need to protect the public, the reviewing court is "obliged to search the record to determine whether the sentence imposed is sustainable as a proper discretionary act." *Id.* at ¶7. When the facts relied upon by the judge are fairly inferable from the record, and the reasons for a particular sentence indicate a consideration of the relevant factors, the sentence should be affirmed. *Id.* at ¶10. If the court considered the proper factors and the sentence was a proper discretionary act, the sentence cannot be reversed unless it "is so excessive so as to shock the public conscience." *Id.* at ¶12.

Ninnemann has a due process right to be sentenced based on accurate information. *State v. Anderson*, 222 Wis. 2d 403, 408, 588 N.W.2d 75, 77 (Ct. App. 1998). However, the record of a court's sentence after revocation "is not inaccurate because it does not list all of a defendant's positive adjustments." *Id.* at ¶11. A sentence

after revocation is not a pre-sentence investigation. *Id.* A sentence after revocation is equivalent to a pleading, and a court is not required to express all existing positive and negative circumstances. *Id.* Rather, it is the obligation of the defendant to inform the court about positive adjustments. *Id.*

In sentencing Ninnemann to probation, the court expressly warned Ninnemann to "make sure it never happens again or else [the Court has] 45 months" of confinement in the county jail to consider in sentencing Ninnemann after revocation. (R. 34:22; App. 22). In sentencing Ninnemann after revocation, both Ninnemann's probation officer and the State recommended the maximum term of 45 months, as the period of probation contemplated three years of supervision. (R. 48:4; App. 28). The State argued that 45 months was appropriate to provide the three years of protection the victim was afforded when the Court sentenced Ninnemann to probation. (R. 48:5; App. 29).

In both sentencing proceedings, the court applied the factors of the protection of the community, seriousness of the offense, and Ninnemann's character and rehabilitation in determining a proper sentence. (R. 34:15; App. 15/R. 48:18; App. 42). The Court's application of these factors in both proceedings should be considered

globally, especially because the same judge presided over both sentencing proceedings.

In the original sentencing proceeding, the Court spoke at length to the issue of the character of the defendant. The Court acknowledged Ninnemann's lack of a prior record, the letters attesting to Ninnemann's character, and acceptance of responsibility for his actions by entering a plea to his offenses. (R. 34:15-17; App. 15-17). The Court still found the defendant's character "lacking," because of the particular circumstances of Ninnemann's conduct and Ninnemann's admission that he knew the conduct was "bad." (R. 34:17; App. 17). After Ninnemann was revoked, the Court expressed additional concern in that Ninnemann refused to comply with his expressly required treatment, he denied he committed the offense to his agent and his attorney, and he did not realize the inappropriateness of his conduct. (R. 48:15, 18-19; App. 39, 42-43). The Court considered these new factors in its re-evaluation of Ninnemann's character, as well as the pre-existing factors expressly stated in the original sentencing proceeding. The Court again found the character of Ninnemann "lacking," and "the fact that [Ninnemann] didn't comply with the probation sentence" further undermined his character. (R. 48:18; App. 42).

As to the protection of the community, the Court stated its concern. The Court's determination that it was appropriate to require Ninnemann to register exemplifies the Court's view that the public should be protected from this particular conduct. (R. 34:17-18; App. 17-18). Ninnemann argues that he should not be required to register, which is contradictory to his contention that additional protection is afforded to the public through his registration as a sexual offender. Further, Ninnemann is correct in that the victim and the victim's family can seek a restraining order. However, protection of the public is a relevant factor in sentencing Ninnemann for his conduct, and the victim's ability to seek additional protection through other means should not undercut this factor.

In Ninneman's sentencing after revocation proceeding, the Court expressly stated that, in the Court's view, there was an increased risk Ninnemann would engage in similar conduct in the future because he refused the acknowledge what he did and that it was wrong. (R. 48:16; App. 40). The Court evaluated the need to protect the public from Ninnemann, "who [didn't] seem to realize the inappropriateness of [his] conduct." (R. 48:19; App. 43).

Ninnemann's lewd and lascivious conduct did not continue throughout probation, but Ninnemann was subject to strict supervision. Ninnemann argued for a time-served disposition, which

would have relieved Ninnemann from any additional supervision and protection for the victim after only six months of supervision. Thus, after his probation was revoked for non-compliance with treatment and refusals to admit he committed the offenses, the victim would have been denied any further protection. This disposition has no reasonable or explainable basis, as it would offer less protection for the public than the previous sentence, with which Ninnemann did not comply.

In both proceedings, the Court expressly stated the offense was serious. (R. 34:17; App. 17/R. 48:18; App. 42). In sentencing Ninneman after revocation, the court reiterated Ninneman's admission that the 80 counts in the criminal complaint were substantially true and correct, and that the conduct was sexually motivated. (R. 48:14-15; App. 38-39).

It was Ninnemann's obligation to present the Court with mitigating factors, such as positive adjustments during probation.

Ninnemann and his counsel explained Ninnemann's positive adjustments during his probation to the Court. The Court had no obligation to reiterate all of the positive and negative circumstances of the case, and the Court's sentence is not inaccurate because the Court did not list all of the positive aspects of Ninnemann's probation. The Court ultimately did not sentence Ninnemann to the

45 months recommended by the State and Ninnemann's probation agent, but to 36 months. Thus, one can fairly infer that the mitigating factors stated by Ninnemann and his counsel were considered in sentencing Ninnemann to 36 months of county jail time.

The Court was not obliged to consider whether the defendant substantially complied with probation. Ninnemann refused to comply with his expressly required treatment, denied he committed the offense to his agent and his attorney, and did not realize the inappropriateness of the conduct, and was revoked in result. If he properly complied with his conditions of probation, he would not have been revoked. Therefore, the Court's statement that Ninnemann "just didn't comply" with probation was accurate.

The Court again considered the relevant factors in sentencing Ninnemann after revocation, adding its concern about the circumstances of the defendant's revocation. The records of the original sentencing and sentencing after revocation show that the Court had a reasonable and justifiable basis for imposing a sentence of 36 months. Ninnemann has not shown that this sentence is so excessive so as to shock the public conscience. Therefore, the sentence after revocation should be upheld.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the circuit court's decision requiring David H. Ninnemann to register with the sexual offender registry and affirm the circuit court's sentences after revocation.